
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Planning Applications 
Committee Agenda 

 

 
  

 

Members of the Public are welcome to attend this Meeting. 
 

 

1.   Introductions/Attendance at Meeting  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 

3.   To Approve the Minutes of the Meeting of this Committee held on 7 August 2024 (Pages 
3 - 18) 

 
4.   Introduction to Procedure by the Assistant Director, Law and Governance's 

Representative (Pages 19 - 20) 
 

5.   Applications for Planning Permission and Other Consents under the Town and Country 
Planning Act and Associated Legislation (Pages 21 - 22) 

 
 (a)   85 Carmel Road North (Pages 23 - 46) 

 

6.   SUPPLEMENTARY ITEM(S) (if any) which in the opinion of the Chair of this Committee are 
of an urgent nature and can be discussed at this meeting  
 

7.   Questions  

 
PART III 

 
EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 

 

1.30 pm, Wednesday, 4 September 2024 

Council Chamber, Town Hall, Darlington DL1 5QT 

Public Document Pack



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

8.   To consider the Exclusion of the Public and Press –  
 

RECOMMENDED - That, pursuant to Sections 100B(5) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the ensuing item on 
the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
exclusion paragraph 7 of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

9.   Complaints Received and Being Considered Under the Council's Approved Code of 
Practice as of 16 August 2024 (Exclusion Paragraph No. 7) – Report of the Chief Executive 
 (Pages 47 - 56) 
 

10.   SUPPLEMENTARY ITEM(S) (IF ANY) which in the opinion of the Chair of this Committee 
are of an urgent nature and can be discussed at this meeting  
 

11.   Questions  

 
 

     
Luke Swinhoe 

Assistant Director Law and Governance 
 
Tuesday, 27 August 2024 
 
Town Hall  
Darlington. 
 

Membership 
Councillors Ali, Allen, Anderson, Bartch, Beckett, Cossins, Haszeldine, Kane, Laing, Lawley, Lee, 

McCollom, Robinson and Tostevin. 
 

If you need this information in a different language or format or you have any other queries on 
this agenda please contact Paul Dalton, Democratic and Elections Officer, Operations Group, 

during normal office hours 8.30 a.m. to 4.45 p.m. Mondays to Thursdays and 8.30 a.m. to 
4.15 p.m. Fridays E-Mail: paul.dalton@darlington.gov.uk or telephone  01325 405805. 



 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

Wednesday, 7 August 2024 
 

PRESENT – Councillors Haszeldine (Chair), Anderson, Beckett, Cossins, Kane, Laing, Lee, 
McCollom, Robinson and Tostevin. 

 
APOLOGIES – Councillors Ali, Allen, Bartch and Lawley.  
 
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE – Councillor Snedker. 
 
OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE – Dave Coates (Head of Planning, Development and Environmental 
Health), Stephen Foster (Principal Lawyer (Commercial) and Procurement Management), 

Andrew Errington (Lawyer (Planning)), Arthur Howson (Engineer (Traffic Management)) and 
Paul Dalton (Democratic and Elections Officer). 

 
PA12 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
 There were no declarations of interest reported at the meeting. 

 
PA13 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THIS COMMITTEE HELD ON 10 JULY 2024 

 
 RESOLVED – That the Minutes of this Committee held on 10 July 2024, be approved as a 

correct record. 
 

PA14 APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION AND OTHER CONSENTS UNDER THE TOWN 
AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT AND ASSOCIATED LEGISLATION 

 
 A3 Implementation Limit (Three Years) 

The development hereby permitted shall be commenced not later 

than the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason - To accord with the provisions of Section 91(1) of the Town 
and Country Planning Act, 1990. 
 

 

 
PA15 

 
BRUNSWICK STREET CAR PARK, ST CUTHBERT'S WAY, DARLINGTON 
 

 24/00294/FUL - Erection of a new office building (Use Class E(g)(i)) (GIA 9,639 sqm) with 
means of access, associated parking, hard and soft landscaping and associated works 

(amended biodiversity assessment and calculator and landscaping plan received 17 April 
2024; Archaeology Report Addendum received 23 May 2024; amended plans received 6 June 

2024). 
 

(In making its decision, the Committee took into consideration the Planning Officer’s report 

(previously circulated), the views of the Council’s Environmental Health Officer, Transport 
Policy Team and Ecology Officer, Durham County Council’s Archaeology Team, the Lead Local 
Flood Authority, the Environment Agency, Northumbrian Water, Historic England, the 
Council’s Heritage Consultant, Northern Gas Network, three objections and four comments 
received in relation to the original planning application, two further letters of objection and 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

one representation received in relation to the submission of amended plans, and the views 

of the Applicant’s Agent, whom the Committee heard). 
 

RESOLVED – That the Chief Executive be authorised to negotiate an agreement under Section 
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 within six months to secure planning 

obligations that are appropriate for the development covering: 
 

a. A Travel Plan including a monitoring fee; a personalised Travel Advice fee and a Travel 
Plan Implementation bond.  
 

That, upon satisfactory completion and signing of that agreement, Planning Permiss ion be 
granted subject to the following conditions: 

 
GENERAL 

 
1. A3 – Implementation Limit (Three Years) 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved plans, as detailed below:  
 

a) Drawing Number  DAR2-ATK-MB-XX-VS-A-007101 Rev P3 Planning External Visuals 
Sheet 1 0f 4 

b) Drawing Number  DAR2-ATK-MB-XX-VS-A-007102 Rev P3 Planning External Visuals 
Sheet 2 0f 4 

c) Drawing Number  DAR2-ATK-MB-XX-VS-A-007103 Rev P3 Planning External Visuals 
Sheet 3 0f 4 

d) Drawing Number  DAR2-ATK-MB-XX-VS-A-007104 Rev P3 Planning External Visuals 
Sheet 4 0f 4 

e) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-MB-ZZ-DR-A-104051 Rev P3 – Typical Façade Study 
Bay 
f) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-MB-ZZ-DR-A-023052 Rev P03 Contextual Sections 
g) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-MB-EE-DR-A-012101 Rev P3 North Elevation 
h) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-MB-EE-DR-A-012102 Rev P4 East Elevation 

i) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-MB-EE-DR-A-012103 Rev P4 South Elevation 
j) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-MB-EE-DR-A-012104 Rev P3 West Elevation 
k) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-MB-ZZ-DR-A-013103 Rev P3 Planning Section C 
l) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-MB-ZZ-DR-A-013104 Rev P2 Planning Section D 

m) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-XX-XX-DR-L 100007 Rev P05 Soft Landscaping 
Proposals 
n) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-021003 Rev P3 Proposed Site Plan 
o) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-MB-00-DR-A-011101 Rev P4 Level 00 General 

Arrangement 
p) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-MB-01-DR-A-011102 Rev P4 Level 01 General 

Arrangement 
q) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-MB-02-DR-A-011103 Rev P4 Level 02 General 
Arrangement 
r) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-MB-03-DR-A-011104 Rev P4 Level 03 General 
Arrangement 
s) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-MB-04-DR-A-011105 Rev P4 Level 04 General 

Page 4



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Arrangement 

t) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-MB-05-DR-A-011106 Rev P4 Roof Plant Level General 
Arrangement 

u) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-MB-RS-DR-A-011107 Rev P4 Roof Level General 
Arrangement 

v) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-XX-RF-DR-A-811207 Rev P02 Building Services Level 
w) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-XX-RF-DR-N-811217 Rev P02 Building Services Level 
x) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-XX-WS-DR-E-641201 Rev P01 External Lighting Strategy 
Plan 
y) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-XX-DR-H-100001 Rev P03 Vehicle Turning Movements 
Access & Egress 
z) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-XX-DR-H-100002 Rev P03 Vehicle Turning Movements 

Access & Egress 
aa) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-XX-XX-DR-H-100004 Rev P02 Site Access Vehicular GA 

bb) Drawing number DAR2-ATK-XX-XX-DR-L-100001 Rev P01 Site Context Plan 
cc) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-XX-XX-DR-L 1000004 Rev P04 Site General 

Arrangement 
dd) Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-XX-XX-DR-L 1000005 Rev P04 Landscape General 

Arrangement 
ee) Drawing Number DAR-ATK-XX-XX-DR-L 1000006 Rev P04 Surfacing Plan 

ff) Drawing Number DAR-ATK-XX-XX-DR-L 1000008 Rev P03 Site Level Design 
gg) Drawing Number DAR-ATK-XX-XX-DR-L 1000014 Rev P02 Site Sections and 

Elevations 
hh) Drawing Number DAR-ATK-XX-XX-DR-L 1000015 Rev P02 Site Sections and 

Elevations 
ii) Drawing Number DAR-ATK-XX-XX-DR-L 1000016 Rev P02 Site General Arrangement 

South 
jj) Drawing Number DAR-ATK-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A 0211001 Rev P2 Location Plan 

 
REASON - To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the planning 
permission. 
 
EXTERNAL MATERIALS 

 
3. Notwithstanding any description of the external materials in the submitted application, 

no building shall be constructed above damp proof course until details of all the external 
materials to be used in the carrying out of this permission (including samples) shall be 

submitted to, and approved by, the Local Planning Authority in writing prior to the 
commencement of the development and the development shall not be carried out 
otherwise than in accordance with any such approved details. 

 

REASON - In order that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied as to the details of the 
development in the interests of the visual amenity of the area. 

 
CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT PLAN 
 
4. Prior to the commencement of the development, a site-specific Construction 

Management Plan (CMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The plan shall include the following, unless the Local Planning 

Page 5



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Authority dispenses with any requirements specifically and in writing:  

 
a) Details of the dust control measures to be put in place during the construction phase 

of the development taking account of the guidance contained within the Institute of 
Air Quality Management “Guidance on the assessment of dust from demolition and 

construction” August 2023. Appendix C of the Air Quality Assessment by Hydrock 
submitted with the development contains details of the mitigation measures required 
to control dust during the construction phase and should be incorporated into the 
CMP. 
 

b) Methods for controlling noise and vibration during the construction phase shall take 
account of the guidance contained within BS5228 “Code of Practice for noise and 

vibration control on construction and open sites.” 
 

c) Details of any piling to take place including duration and equipment type to be used. 
This shall include details of mitigation measures to control dust and vibration. The 

piling works must then be completed in accordance with the agreed methodology. 
 

d) Ecological lighting scheme in accordance with the submitted Ecological Impact 
Assessment dated January 2024. 

 
e) Details of any temporary construction access to the site including measures for 

removal following completion of construction works. 
 

f) Wheel and chassis underside washing facilities on site to ensure that mud and debris 
is not spread onto the adjacent public highway; 

 
g) the parking of contractors’ site operatives and visitor’s vehicles; 

 
h) areas for storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development clear of 

the highway; 
 

i) measures to manage the delivery of materials and plant to the site including routing 

and timing of deliveries and loading and unloading areas; 
 

j) details of the routes to be used by HGV construction traffic and highway condition 
surveys on these routes; 

 
k) protection of carriageway and footway users at all times during demolition and 

construction; 
 

l) protection of contractors working adjacent to the highway; 
 

m) erection and maintenance of hoardings including decorative displays, security fencing 
and scaffolding on/over the footway & carriageway and facilities for public viewing 
where appropriate; 
 

n) an undertaking that there must be no burning of materials on site at any time during 
construction; 

Page 6



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

o) removal of materials from site including a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste 
resulting from demolition and construction works; 

 
p) details of the measures to be taken for the protection of trees; 

 
q) details of external lighting equipment; 18. details of ditches to be piped during the 

construction phases; 
 

r) a detailed method statement and programme for the building works; and 
 

s) contact details for the responsible person (site manager/office) who can be contacted 

in the event of any issue. 
 

The development shall not be carried out otherwise in complete accordance with the 
approved Plan. 

 
REASON – In the interests of the amenity of the surrounding area and highway safety. 

 
BIODIVERSITY NET GAIN 

 
5. Prior to the commencement of the development, a Biodiversity Net Gain Plan and 

Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority and the development shall not be carried out otherwise 

than in complete accordance with the approved Plans. 
 

REASON – In the interest of securing biodiversity net gain in accordance with Schedule 7A of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as inserted by Schedule 14 of the Environment Act 

2021) 
 
6. Prior to the commencement of the development, a Biosecurity Management Plan shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Plan can be 
submitted as a standalone document or as part of a Construction Management Plan and 

the development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance with 
the approved Plans. 

 
REASON – In order to manage existing Invasive Non Native Species present onsite. 

 
ARCHAEOLOGY 
 
7. No development shall commence until a Written Scheme of Investigation setting out a 

phased programme of archaeological work in accordance with 'Standards For All 
Archaeological Work In County Durham And Darlington' has been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The programme of archaeological 
work will then be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme of works.  

 
REASON - To safeguard any archaeological interest in the site, and to comply with Part 16 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Policy ENV1 of the Darlington Local Plan.  
 

Page 7



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

8. No part of an individual phase of the development as set out in the agreed programme of 

archaeological works shall be occupied until the post investigation assessment has been 
completed in accordance with the approved Written Scheme of Investigation. The 

provision made for analysis, publication and dissemination of results, and archive 
deposition, should be confirmed in writing to, and approved by, the Local Planning 

Authority. 
 
REASON - To safeguard any archaeological interest in the site, and to comply with Part 16 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) ) and Policy ENV1 of the Darlington Local 
Plan. 
 
LANDSCAPING 

 
9. The approved landscaping scheme shown on Drawing Number DAR2-ATK-XX-XX-DR-L 

100007 Rev P05 shall be fully implemented concurrently with the carrying out of the 
development, or within such extended period which may be agreed in writing by, the 

Local Planning Authority and thereafter any trees or shrubs removed, dying, severely 
damaged or becoming seriously diseased shall be replaced, and the landscaping scheme 

maintained for a period of five years to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.  
 

Any changes to the landscaping scheme which impact upon Biodiversity Net Gain values 
on the site, shall result in an update of the submitted Biodiversity Net Gain metric and be 

submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority 
 

REASON - In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and in the interests of 
biodiversity net gain 

 
FLOOD RISK AND DRAINAGE 

 
10. No development shall take place until a detailed design and associated management and 

maintenance plan of surface water drainage for the site based on sustainable drainage 
principles and an assessment of the hydrological and hydrogeological context of the 
development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. The surface water drainage design shall demonstrate that the surface water 
runoff generated during rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 years rainfall 
event, to include for climate change, will not exceed the agreed 30 litres/second tota l. 
The scheme shall demonstrate that the surface water drainage system(s) are designed in 

accordance with the standards detailed in the Tees Valley SuDS Design Guide and Local 
Standards (or any subsequent update or replacement for that document).The approved 
drainage system shall be implemented in accordance with the approved detailed design 
prior to completion of the development.  

 
REASON - To prevent the increased risk of flooding from any sources in accordance with the 

National Planning Policy Framework 2023 and policy DC2 of the Darlington Local Plan 2016 – 
2036. 
 
11. The development hereby approved shall not be implemented otherwise than in complete 

accordance with the drainage scheme contained within the submitted document entitled 
“Drainage Strategy P03” dated “March 2024”. The drainage scheme shall ensure that foul 

Page 8



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

flows discharge to the combined sewer at manhole 2608 and ensure that surface water 

discharges to the surface water sewer at manhole 2602 which discharges ultimately to a 
nearby watercourse. The surface water discharge rate shall not exceed the available 

capacity of 3.5l/sec that has been identified in this sewer. The final surface water 
discharge rate shall be agreed by the Lead Local Flood Authority.  

 
REASON - To prevent the increased risk of flooding from any sources in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2023 and policy DC2 of the Darlington Local Plan 2016 – 
2036. 
 
12. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted Flood Risk 

Assessment dated 15 March 2024 and produced by Atkins Realis and the following 

mitigation measures it details:  
 

a) Finished floor levels shall be set at 39.32 metres above Ordnance Datum (AOD) as per 
section 5.5.25 page 35. 

 
b) Compensatory storage shall be provided to offset the volume of water displaced by 

the scheme occupying the design flood event with an allowance for climate change 
(as per section 5.5.17 page 33 highlighting a compensatory storage volume of 16m3); 

and 
 

c) The proposed bund will be installed to the dimensions in section 5.5.19 page 34, as to 
not increase off-site flood risk, and will be maintained for the lifetime of the 

development. 
 

These mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and subsequently 
in accordance with the scheme’s timing/phasing arrangements. The measures detailed above 

shall be retained and maintained thereafter throughout the lifetime of the development. 
 
REASON – To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants. 
And to prevent flooding elsewhere by ensuring that compensatory storage of flood water is 
provided. 

 
LAND CONTAMINATION 
 
13. Prior to the commencement of the development or at a time agreed in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority a Phase 3 Remediation and Verification Strategy shall be 
prepared by a "suitably competent person(s)" to address all human health and 
environmental risks associated with contamination identified in the Phase 2 Site 
Investigation and Risk Assessment. The Remediation and Verification Strategy which shall 

include an options appraisal and ensure that the site is suitable for its new use and shall 
be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, unless the Local 

Planning Authority dispenses with the requirement specifically and in writing. No 
alterations to the Remediation and Verification Strategy or associated works shall be 
carried out without the prior written agreement of the Local Planning Authority. The 
Phase 3 Remediation and Verification works shall be conducted, supervised and 
documented by a "suitably competent person(s)" and in accordance with the approved 
Phase 3 Remediation and Verification Strategy.  

Page 9



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

REASON - The site may be contaminated as a result of past or current uses and/or is within 
250 metres of a site which has been landfilled and the Local Planning Authority wishes to 

ensure that the proposed development can be implemented and occupied with adequate 
regard to environmental and public protection. 

 
14. Any contamination not considered in the Phase 3 Remediation and Verification Strategy 

but identified during subsequent construction/remediation works shall be subject to 
further risk assessment and remediation proposals agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority and the development completed in accordance with any further 
agreed amended specification of works. 

 

REASON - The site may be contaminated as a result of past or current uses and/or is within 
250 metres of a site which has been landfilled and the Local Planning Authority wishes to 

ensure that the proposed development can be implemented and occupied with adequate 
regard to environmental and public protection. 

 
15. A Phase 4 Verification and Completion Report shall be complied and reported by a 

"suitably competent person(s)", documenting the purpose, objectives, investigation and 
risk assessment findings, remediation methodologies and validation results obtained to 

demonstrate the completeness and effectiveness of all approved remediation works 
conducted.  The Phase 4 Verification and Completion Report and shall be submitted and 

agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority within 2-months of completion of the 
development unless the Local Planning Authority dispenses with the requirement 

specifically and in writing.  The development site or agreed phase of development site, 
shall not be occupied until all of the approved investigation, risk assessment, remediation 

and verification requirements relevant to the site (or part thereof) have been completed, 
reported and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
REASON - The site may be contaminated as a result of past or current uses and/or is within 
250 metres of a site which has been landfilled and the Local Planning Authority wishes to 
ensure that the proposed development can be implemented and occupied with adequate 
regard to environmental and public protection. 

 
HIGHWAYS AND SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT 
 
16. The following schemes of off-site highway mitigation measures must be completed prior 

to the first occupation of the development unless agreed otherwise in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority:  

 
a) Footway and cycleway infrastructure works on Brunswick Street & St Cuthberts Way 

prior to: Occupation of the site. 
 

b) Footways and pedestrian dropped crossing provision at Tannery Yard prior to: 
Occupation of the site.  
 

c) Upgraded signalised crossing facility on Parkgate. prior to: Occupation of the site.  
 
For each scheme of off-site highway mitigation, except for investigative works, no excavation 

Page 10



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

or other groundworks or the depositing of material on site in connection with the 

construction of any scheme of off-site highway mitigation or any structure or apparatus 
which will lie beneath that scheme must take place, until full detailed engineering drawings 

of all aspects of that scheme including any structures which affect or form part of the scheme 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. An 

independent Stage 2 Road Safety Audit carried out in accordance with GG119 - Road Safety 
Audits or any superseding regulations must be included in the submission and the design 
proposals must be amended in accordance with the recommendations of the submitted 
Safety Audit prior to the commencement of works on site. A programme for the delivery of 
that scheme and its interaction with delivery of the other identified schemes must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to construction 
works commencing on site. Each item of the off-site highway works must be completed in 

accordance with the approved engineering details  and programme.  
 

REASON - To ensure that the design is appropriate in the interests of the safety and 
convenience of highway users. 

 
17. Prior to the first occupation of the development, the access, parking, manoeuvring, and 

turning areas for all users shall be constructed in accordance with details approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Once created these areas must be maintained 

clear of any obstruction and retained for their intended purpose at all times.  
 

REASON - To provide for appropriate on-site vehicle facilities in the interests of highway 
safety and the general amenity of the development. 

 
18. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, all Hostile Vehicle Mitigation 

(HVM) measures (bollards or other barriers) shall not be located within public highway.  
 

REASON – In the interests of highway and pedestrian safety. 
 
19. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, he drop-down bollards which 

control access to the site via Brunswick Street shall be set back further into the site to 
ensure that a car can pull clear of the public highway, to avoid obstruction of the 

footway. The general requirement for this is 6.0m. 
 
REASON – In the interests of highway and pedestrian safety. 
 

20. No building shall be constructed above damp proof course until precise details of cycle 
parking provision has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The cycle parking provision shall accord with the guidance in LTN 1/20 on Cycle 
Infrastructure Design as a minimum. The development shall not be occupied until the 

cycle parking has been constructed and completed in accordance with the approved 
details and shall thereafter be kept free of obstruction and permanently available for the 

parking of cycles only.  
 
REASON - To comply with policy IN4 of the Local Plan and the guidance in LTN 1/20 on Cycle 
Infrastructure Design. 
 
21. Notwithstanding the requirements for a Stage1 & 2 Road Safety Audit at submission of 

Page 11



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

detailed design, further independent Stage 3 & 4 Road Safety Audits must be carried out 

in accordance with DMRB GG119 - Road Safety Audits or any superseding regulations. 
Audits Shall Cover all off-site highway works on Parkgate, Brunswick Street, St Cuthberts 

Way, and Tannery Yard. The design proposals must be amended in accordance with the 
recommendations of the submitted Safety Audit within a timescale to be agreed in 

writing with the Local Planning Authority.  
 
REASON - To ensure that the design is appropriate in the interests of the access, safety, and 
convenience of highway users. 
 
22. The electric charging spaces shown on the approved plans shall be designed to be fully 

accessible and be in situ prior to the first occupation of the development. The spaces 

shall be made permanently available for the lifetime of the development.  
 

REASON – To ensure that the development accords with policy IN4 of the Darlington Local 
Plan 2016 – 2036. 

 
23. No building shall be constructed above damp proof course until details of the accessible 

car parking bays has been submitted to and approved in writing to the Local Planning 
Authority in consultation with the Local Highway Authority.  The development shall not 

be occupied until the accessible parking bays has been implemented and completed in 
accordance with the approved details and shall thereafter be kept free of obstruction and 

permanently available for the lifetime of the development.  
 

REASON - To ensure that sufficient parking for disabled people is provided. 
 

24. Notwithstanding the Full Travel Plan dated January 2024 (Rev 1) submitted in support of 
the planning application and prior to first occupation of the development, a Travel Plan 

(TP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with the Local Highway Authority. The Travel Plan shall be added to the 
Modeshift Stars Community / Modeshift Stars Business/Residential site, and the Travel 
Plan shall be continued in accordance with the details contained therein, including 
attaining Good standard within 12 months of the occupation of the development and the 

submission and approval of annual reviews until five years post completion of the site, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
REASON - To deliver sustainable transport objectives including a reduction in private 

vehicular journeys and the increased use of public transport, walking, wheeling and cycling 
and comply with policy IN3 of the adopted Darlington Local Plan. 
 
25. Tannery Yard shall not be used as a primary vehicular access, and shall be used for no  

vehicular access purposes other than for maintenance and Fire and Emergency purposes 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

 
REASON - In the interest of the amenity of the area. 
 
AMENITY 
 
26. No fixed external mechanical plant, equipment or machinery shall be installed on site 

Page 12



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

until an assessment has been carried out and submitted to the Local Planning Authority 

to show that the rating level (LAr,Tr) of any external plant, equipment or machinery 
associated with the development (whether operating individually or simultaneously) shall 

be less than -5dB below the existing daytime and night-time background sound level 
(LA90,T) at noise sensitive receptors. The assessment must be carried out by a suitably 

qualified acoustic consultant/engineer (appointed by the applicant) and be in accordance 
with BS4142: – ‘Method for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound’. The 
noise sensitive receptors and background sound levels to be used in the BS4142 
assessment shall be agreed in advance with the Local Planning Authority. Any mitigation 
measures shown to be necessary following the assessment shall be implemented prior to 
the plant, equipment or machinery first becoming operational and thereafter shall be 
retained and maintained for the life of the development. 

 
REASON – In the interests of safeguarding the general amenity of the surrounding area. 

 
27. No construction activities, including the use of plant and machinery, as well as deliveries 

to and from the site, shall take place outside the hours of 08.00-18.00 Monday to Friday, 
09.00-13.00 Saturday with no activities on Sunday or Bank/Public Holidays without the 

prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority 
 

REASON – In the interests of safeguarding the general amenity of the surrounding area. 
 

28. If piled foundations are proposed, prior to commencement of development, details of 
the piling method including justification for its choice, means of monitoring vibration and 

groundwater risk assessment, if necessary, in accordance with recognised guidance shall 
be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 

shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the approved details.  
 

REASON - In the interests of amenity. 
 
ECOLOGY 
 
29. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance with 

the submitted document entitled “ Darlington Economic Campus – Brunswick Street. 
Ecological Impact Assessment” dated January 2024 produced by Atkins Realis unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

 

REASON – In the interests of biodiversity and the visual appearance of the development. 
 
HERITAGE 
 

30. Prior to the first occupation of the development, precise details of historic interpretation 
boards to be located within the public realm areas shall be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
REASON – To secure a means of revealing the significance of the Parkgate Conservation Area 
and the historic contribution of the application site within the Area. 
 
BREAAM STANDARDS 

Page 13



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

31. The development hereby approved shall meet a minimum of BREAAM “Very Good” 
standard. 

 
REASON - To ensure that the development complies with Policy DC1 of the Local Plan 2016 – 

2036. 
 
CLIMATE CHANGE 
 
32. Prior to the commencement of development, precise details of energy efficiency 

measures and low carbon technologies for the relevant development cell shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 

of the relevant development cell shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete 
accordance with the approved details.  

 
REASON - In order to comply with Policy DC1 of the Darlington Local Plan. 

 
GENERAL DESIGN 

33. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and submitted with the 
planning application, precises details of the following shall be submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the first occupation of the 
development: 

 
a) Details of perimeter fencing 

b) Details of retaining/boundary walls and gates 
c) Details of seating and benches 

d) Details of railings 
e) Details of cycle store building 

f) Details of Generator and Tank Enclosure 
g) Details of Bin Store 
h) Static and retractable bollards 
i) Details of Sprinkler Pump Enclosure and Sprinkler Tanks  
j) Details of Dog Spend 

 
REASON - In the interests of the visual appearance of the development and surrounding area 
 
BROADBAND CONNECTIVITY 

 
34. Prior to the any commencement of development above damp proof course level, a 

statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
detailing the measures necessary for providing broadband connectivity, including ducts, 

to the building hereby approved. The approved infrastructure shall be laid out in 
accordance with the details as approved at the same time as other services during the 

construction process and be available for use on the first occupation of each building and 
thereafter be so maintained for the lifetime of the development.  

 
REASON - To ensure that the development is provided with high quality broadband services 
enhancing its attractiveness, in accordance with Policy IN8 of the Local Plan. 
 

Page 14



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

TREES 

 
35. Prior to the commencement of the development, an Arboricultural Impact Assessment, 

Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority and the development shall not be carried out 

otherwise than in accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority 

 
REASON – In the interests of the visual appearance of the development and to protect 
retained trees within/or outside the application site. 
 
(NOTE: Should the 106 Agreement not be completed within the prescribed period without 

written consent of the Council to extend this time, the minded to approve status of the 
permission shall be considered to be a refusal on the grounds that the application has failed 

to provide adequate mitigation measures to provide a satisfactory form of development in 
accordance with the requirements of Darlington Local Plan 2016-2036, without any further 

reference to the Planning Committee). 
 

PA16 CONISCLIFFE ROAD 
 

 23/00681/DC - Public realm improvement works including widening of footways and 
alignment of the carriageway to accommodate street cafes, installation of trees, planters, 

bollards, seating, a green space (amended plans and reports received 28 May 2024, 21 June 
2024 and 15 July 2024). 

 
(In making its decision, the Committee took into consideration the Planning Officer’s report 

(previously circulated), the views of the Council’s Environmental Health Officer, Climate 
Change Officer, Transport Policy Officer and Highways Engineer, Darlington Association on 

Disability, Northern Gas Networks, four letters of support and eight letters of objection in 
terms of the original application). 
 
RESOLVED – That permission be granted pursuant to Regulation 3 of the Town and Country 
Planning Regulations 1992, subject to the following Planning conditions: 

 
1. A3 – Implementation Limit (Three Years) 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved plans, as detailed below:  
 
a)Drawing Number  100-01 P02  - General Arrangement  
b) Drawing Number 100-09 P02 – Residual Risk 

c) Drawing Number 100-12 P02 – Consultation Plan 
d) Drawing Number 1100-01 P02 – Kerb Reference Sheet 

e) Drawing Number 1200-02 P02- Proposed Signage and Road Markings 
f) Drawing Number 1300-01 P02 – Proposed Street Lighting Layout 
g)Drawing Number 200-01 P02 – Site Clearance 
h) Drawing Number 500-01 P01 – Proposed Drainage Layout 
i) Drawing Number 700-04 P01 – Pavement Texture and Aggregate Properties 
j) Drawing Number TV377 CON 03D – Landscape Layout 

Page 15



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

k) Drawing Number 1100 -02 P01 Typical Kerb Details 

l) Drawing Number 700-01 P01 Road Pavement Construction Layout 
m) Drawing Number 700-02 P01 Typical Highway Cross Section 

n) Drawing Number 100-02 Site Extents 
o) Drawing Number 100-03 Accommodation Works 

p) Drawing Number 100-04 Site Restrictions 
q) Drawing Number 100-05 Adopted Highway 
r) Drawing Number 100-06  Land Ownership 
s) Drawing Number 100-08 Diversion Plan 
t) Drawing Number 100-10 Traffic Management North 
u) Drawing Number 100-11 Traffic Management South 
v) Drawing Number 100-13 Core Hole Locations 

w) Drawing Number 100-14 Setting Out Layout 
x) Drawing Number 100-15 Topographic Survey 

y) Drawing Number 1100-03 Typical Kerb Details 
z) Drawing Number 1100-04 Typical Raised Table Details 

aa) Drawing Number 1200-03.1 Sign Schedule 
bb) Drawing Number 1200-03.2 Sign Schedule 

cc) Drawing Number 1200-03.3 Sign Schedule 
dd) Drawing Number 1200-03.4 Sign Schedule 

ee) Drawing Number 1200-03.5 Sign Schedule 
ff) Drawing Number 1200-03.6 Sign Schedule 

gg) Drawing Number 1200-03.7 Sign Schedule 
hh) Drawing Number 1200-03.8 Sign Schedule 

ii)Drawing Number 1200-03.9 Sign Schedule 
jj)Drawing Number 1200-03.10 Sign Schedule 

kk) Drawing Number 1200-03.11 Sign Schedule 
ll)Drawing Number 1200-03.12 Sign Schedule 

mm) Drawing Number 1200-03.13 Sign Schedule 
nn) Drawing Number 1200-03.14 Sign Schedule 
oo) Drawing Number 1200-03.15 Sign Schedule 
pp) Drawing Number 1200-03.16 Sign Schedule 
qq) Drawing Number 1200-03.17 Sign Schedule 

rr) Drawing Number 1200-03.18 Sign Schedule 
ss) Drawing Number 1200-03.19 Sign Schedule 
tt) Drawing Number 1200-03.20 Sign Schedule 
uu) Drawing Number 1200-03.21 Sign Schedule 

vv) Drawing Number 1200-03.22 Sign Schedule 
ww) Drawing Number 1200-04 P02 Typical Bollard Details 
xx) Drawing Number 500-02 Drainage Standard Details 
yy) Drawing Number 600-01 Coniscliffe Road Cross Section 

zz) Drawing Number 600-02 Coniscliffe Road Cross Section 
aaa) Drawing Number 600-03 Coniscliffe Road Cross Section 

bbb) Drawing Number 600-04 Hogarth Court Cross Section 
ccc) Drawing Number 600-04 P01 Grange Road Cross Section 
ddd) Drawing Number 600-05 Coniscliffe Road Long Section 
eee) Drawing Number 600-05 P01 Coniscliffe Road Long Section 
fff) Drawing Number 600-05 Hogarth Court Long Section 
ggg) Drawing Number 600-07 P01 Grange Road Long Section 

Page 16



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

hhh) Drawing Number 700- 03 Typical Highway Cross Section  

iii) Drawing Number 700- 05 Pavement Design Details 
jjj) Drawing Number 700- 06 Speed Table Specification 

kkk) Drawing Number DARPLA 010 Horizontal Illuminance Layout Plan 
lll) Drawing Number tv377 con 04C Planting Plan 

mmm) Drawing Number tv377 con 05A Tree Pit Detail 
nnn) Drawing Number TV377CON 06B Seating 
ooo) Drawing Number 300-01 Birdsmouth Fencing Standard Detail 
ppp) Drawing Number UTL 395 1263 RFL and GPR Scanning Results  

 
REASON - To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the planning 
permission. 

 
3. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance with 

the document entitled “Coniscliffe Road Construction Management Plan Rev 02” dated 
24 May 2024 and produced by Darlington Borough Council unless otherwise agreed in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

     REASON – In the interest of amenity and highway safety. 
 

PA17 NOTIFICATION OF DECISION ON APPEALS 
 

 The Chief Executive reported that the Inspectors appointed by the Secretary of State for the 
Environment had: 

 
(a) Allowed the appeal by Mr Dale Jefferies against this authority’s decision to refuse 

permission for erection of a detached single garage and gym with storage area above 
(Resubmission) at 3 Roseberry View, Sadberge, Darlington, DL2 1FH (Ref No 

24/00118/FUL). 
 

(b) Dismissed the appeal by Mr and Mrs Turner against this authority’s decision to refuse 
permission for change of use of agricultural land for tourist accommodation including 
the siting of 3 No. holiday lodges and 3 No. hot tub enclosures with car parking, 

associated landscaping and gravel pathways including the creation of secondary 
access. Conversion of store room to form kitchen/office and garage together with 
landscaping and associated works (Retrospective Application) (Amended 
plans/information received 5th October 2023) at Land To The Rear Of Hazelfield 

Cottage, Elstob Lane, Great Stainton, TS21 1HP (Ref No 23/00588/FUL). 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be received. 
 

PA18 NOTIFICATION OF APPEALS 
 

 The Chief Executive reported that Rory Brownless had appealed against this Authority’s 
decision to refuse permission for works to 1 no. Pine (T4) protected under Tree Preservation 
Order (No.17) 2006 - reduce easterly limb overhanging house by up to 3.5 m at 2 Quaker 
Lane, Darlington, DL1 5PB (24/00064/TF). 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be received. 

Page 17



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 
PA19 TO CONSIDER THE EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 

 
  

RESOLVED - That, pursuant to Sections 100A(4) and (5) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the ensuing item on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in exclusion 
paragraph 7 of Part I of Schedule 12A to the Act. 
 

PA20 COMPLAINTS RECEIVED AND BEING CONSIDERED UNDER THE COUNCIL'S APPROVED CODE 
OF PRACTICE AS OF 26TH JULY 2024 (EXCLUSION PARAGRAPH NO. 7) 

 
 Pursuant to Minute PA11/July/2024, the Chief Executive submitted a report (previously 

circulated) detailing breaches of planning regulations investigated by this Council, as at 26th 
July 2024. 

 
RESOLVED - That the report be noted. 

 

Page 18



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

When the time comes for the application to be considered, the Chair will use the following 

running order:  

[This order may be varied at the Chair’s discretion, depending on the nature/complexity of 

the application. The Chair will endeavour, however, to ensure that the opportunity to make 

representations are made in a fair and balanced way.] 

• Chair introduces Agenda item;  

• Officer explains and advises Members regarding the proposal;  

• Applicant or agent may speak (to a maximum of five minutes);  

• Members may question applicant/agent;  

• Up to three objectors may speak (to a maximum of five minutes each); 

• Members may question objectors; 

• Up to three supporters may speak (to a maximum of five minutes each); 

• Members may question supporters; 

• Parish Council representative may speak (to a maximum of five minutes);  

• Members may question Parish Council representative;  

• Ward Councillor may speak (to a maximum of five minutes);  

• Officer summarises key planning issues;  

• Members may question Officers;  

• Objectors have right to reply;  

• Agent/Applicant has right to reply; 

• Officer makes final comments;  

• Members will debate the application before moving on to a decision;  

• Chair announces the decision. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

BOROUGH OF DARLINGTON 
 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
 

Committee Date – 4 September 2024 
 

SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS FOR CONSIDERATION 
 
Background Papers used in compiling this Schedule:- 
 
1)  Letters and memoranda in reply to consultations. 
2)  Letters of objection and representation from the public. 
 

 
Index of applications contained in this Schedule are as follows:- 
 

 
 

Address/Site Location 
 

Reference Number 

85 Carmel Road North  22/00190/FUL 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

DARLINGTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
 
COMMITTEE DATE:  4th September 2024   

 

 

 
APPLICATION REF. NO: 22/00190/FUL 

  
STATUTORY DECISION DATE: 11th September 2024 

  
WARD/PARISH:  Hummersknott 

  
LOCATION:   85 Carmel Road North 

  
DESCRIPTION:  Demolition of existing bungalow and garage, 

erection of 5 no. residential dwellings with private 
amenity space, access including alterations to front 
boundary, replacement fencing and wall to west 

and south boundaries, landscaping and associated 
works (amended plans received 2nd and 5th 

October 2023; Amended reports, additional plan, 
Nutrient Calculator and Provisional Nutrient 

Certificate received 22 February 2024; Biodiversity 
Net Gain reports and Ecology Reports received 22 

April 2024 and 3 May 2024; Drainage information 
received 23 May 2024; Amended Biodiversity 

Management Plan received 9 August 2024; 
amended site layout plan received 12 August 2024) 

  
APPLICANT: Mr Stainsby 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION SUBJECT TO PLANNING CONDITIONS 
 

 
Application documents including application forms, submitted plans, supporting technical 

information, consultations responses and representations received, and other background 
papers are available on the Darlington Borough Council website via the following link:   

https://publicaccess.darlington.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=R7RKICFPLMU00 
 
APPLICATION AND SITE DESCRIPTION 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5(a)

https://publicaccess.darlington.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=R7RKICFPLMU00
https://publicaccess.darlington.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=R7RKICFPLMU00


 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1. The planning application site is located on Carmel Road North and comprises a 
bungalow and detached garage with associated garden space to the front and rear, all 
set behind a 2m high brick wall and recessed gate on the Carmel Road frontage. 

 
2. The site is within a residential area with St Clare’s Abbey (Grade II and II* listed and 

which has been converted into residential units, known as St Clare’s Court) located to 
the north and further dwellings to the south on Hummersknott Avenue and The 
Headlands. The grounds of Carmel College are located to the west and further 
residential properties and Abbey Junior School are to the east and south east 
respectively. Danesmoor, which is a Day Nursery, is a Grade II listed building on the 
opposite side of Carmel Road North. 
 

3. There are trees within and on the edge of the site which are covered by tree 

preservation orders dated 1951, 1962 and 1985. As well as the 2m high wall on the 
Carmel Road North frontage there is a 2.8m high brick wall on the northern boundary, a 

variety of timber fences along the southern boundary and a metal fence on the western 
boundary. 

 
4. Planning permission is sought to demolish the existing bungalow and garage, which is of 

no particular architectural merit and and redevelop the site for residential purposes. 
The scheme originally consisted of nine dwellings but following comments made by the 

Council’s Highways Engineer (see paragraph 21) the number of dwellings has been 
reduced to five.  Due to the nature and shape of the site, the proposal is a linear 
development with a single road and footway running through providing access for the 
dwellings. Four of the dwellings are located to the south of the access road with the 
fifth dwelling being located at the head of the development. The dwellings to the south 
of the access road are two storeys with the fifth dwelling being 2.5 storeys and each 
dwelling has a double garage. 

 

MAIN PLANNING ISSUES  

5. The main planning issues for consideration are whether the proposed development is 
acceptable in the following terms: 

 
a) Planning Policy 

b) Highway Safety and Parking Matters 
c) Impact on Heritage Assets 

d) Impact on the General Street Scene 
e) Residential Amenity 

f) Flood Risk and Drainage 
g) Land Contamination 

h) Biodiversity Net Gain  
i) Trees and Landscaping 

j) Nutrient Neutrality 
 

PLANNING POLICIES 

6. The relevant local development plan policies are as follows: 

Page 24



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Darlington Local Plan 2016 - 2036 
 SD1: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
 SH1: Settlement Hierarchy 
 DC1: Sustainable Design Principles and Climate Change 
 DC2: Flood Risk & Water Management 
 DC3: Health & Wellbeing 
 DC4: Safeguarding Amenity 
 H3: Development Limits 
 H4: Housing Mix 
 H8: Housing Intensification 
 ENV1: Protecting, Enhancing & Promoting Darlington’s Historic Environment  
 ENV3: Local Landscape Character  
 ENV4: Green and Blue Infrastructure 
 ENV7: Biodiversity and Geodiversity and Development 
 ENV8: Assessing a Development’s Impact on Biodiversity 
 IN1: Delivering a Sustainable Transport Network 
 IN2: Improving Access and Accessibility 
 IN4: Parking Provision including Electric Vehicle Charging  
 IN6: Utilities Infrastructure 
 IN8: Broadband Infrastructure  

 
Other relevant Documents 
 Supplementary Planning Document – Design of New Development (2011) 

 National Planning Policy Framework 2023 
 
 
RESULTS OF TECHNICAL CONSULTATION  

7. The Council’s Highways Engineer, Environmental Health Officer, Senior Arboricultural 
Officer, Ecology Officer have raised no objections to the principle of the planning 
application subject to the imposition of recommended planning conditions. 

 
8. The Lead Local Flood Authority and Northumbrian Water have raised no objections to 

the planning application. 
 

9. Northern Gas Networks have raised no objections. 
 

10. Natural England have raised no objections. 
 

11. The Archaeology Team from Durham County Council have raised no objections. 

 
RESULTS OF PUBLICITY AND NOTIFICATION 

12. A total of twelve objections were received based on the original development proposals 
to redevelop the site with nine dwellings. 

 

Page 25



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

13. Following the submission of amended plans in October 2023, which reduced the 
number of dwellings within the development from nine to five, seventeen objections 
have been received. The comments can be summarised as follows: 

 
 An additional junction will be dangerous due to significant number of children 

crossing the road at school times. 
 An additional junction will result in an increase in traffic generation (residents, 

visitors, deliveries) onto a very busy road. 
 The development will lead to an increase in noise and disturbance for properties on 

Hummersknott Avenue 
 There will be a loss of privacy. 

 The entrance does not meet the minimum requirements for distance between 

junctions. 
 Inadequate space within the plot to service a two lane road. 

 The entrance will be close to two other existing road junctions. 
 The development will lead to an increase in pollution. 

 Very concerned over the drainage for the site development 

 The existing site is boggy and retains water and the development could lead to 

flooding of properties on Hummersknott Avenue 
 The development will lead to an increase in noise from future occupants of the 

development. 
 Concerns over the erection of fencing and wall on the south boundary in terms of 

outlook , the position of the structures and ownership of existing fencing 
 Trees will be impacted upon by the development. 

 Outlook  from existing dwellings will be impacted. 
 Layout and density of the development is overcrowded. 

 Adverse impact on wildlife 
 New entrance will be hazardous for pedestrians and joggers. 

 Increase noise onto No 145 Hummersknott Avenue from use of turning head and 

footpath. 
 We would like some assurance of any measures to reduce noise and dust 

throughout any demolition and construction phase. 
 The entrance will be on a hill leading to highway safety concerns. 

 Any walls and fences need to be constructed to allow the egress of surface water. 
 Existing junctions are already problematic, and the proposal will exacerbate the 

issue. 
 No environmental justification for demolishing an existing house and building five 

more. 
 There is no biodiversity net gain for the development. 

 Inadequate visibility splays 

 Street lighting will cause light pollution. 

 There is no affordable housing within the development. 
 Concern over the impact on trees over the position of fencing 

 

Page 26



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

14. Comments have also been made with regard to there being a covenant on the site to 
prevent building on the land. Members are advised that the presence of a restrictive 
covenant is not a consideration material to the grant of planning permission. The 
planning authority should not take the covenant into account or seek to analyse the 
covenant’s true meaning and legal effect. 
 

PLANNING ISSUES/ANALYSIS 
a) Planning Policy 
15. Planning law (S.38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004) requires that 

applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The National 
Planning Policy Framework (2023) supports the plan led system providing that planning 
decisions should be “genuinely plan-led” (NPPF para 15). 

 
16. Policy H1 of the Local Plan sets a minimum housing requirement of 492 net additional 

dwellings per annum over the plan period to 2036. The proposed development would 
constitute a small, windfall development which would make a contribution towards the 

achievement of the housing requirement. 
 

17. The site is located within the development limits of the main urban area; therefore, the 
proposal accords with policy H3 of the Local Plan. The principle of redeveloping the site 

residential purposes can be supported in general policy terms subject to compliance 
with other relevant national and local policies.  

 

18. The proposed development would be situated on land that is currently the garden of No 
85 Carmel Road North. As the existing dwelling is also to be demolished, there is an 
argument that the proposal is not a form of backland development, however, Policy H8 
of the Local Plan does state that a limited scale of backland or garden development may 
be acceptable providing it does not have a significant adverse impact upon the following, 
which will be considered as part of this Report along with all other material planning 

considerations: 

a) Rear garden land which contributes either individually or as part of a larger swathe 

of green space to amenity of residents or provides wildlife habitats. 

b) The privacy of existing homes and gardens of neighbours or occupiers of the new 

development. 

c) Vehicular access or car parking – both in terms of highway safety or visual, noise or 
light impact on neighbours. 

d) Existing trees, shrubs, and other wildlife habitats. 
 

19. It is noted that a comment has been made with regard to the development not 

including any affordable housing. Policy H5 of the Local Plan states that developments 
of less than 10 dwellings will not be required to make an affordable housing 
contribution. 

 

b) Highway Safety and Parking Matters 

Page 27



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

20. A development proposal for five dwellings falls well below the threshold to require a 
formal transport assessment (typically 50 dwellings units or 30 two-way trips in the 
peak hour). It is therefore considered that the traffic generation from the proposal can 
be accepted on the highway network without further assessment of capacity or offsite 
mitigation works. The site is in a sustainable location with good walking and cycling links 
to existing infrastructure, including the nearest bus stops which are within 200m 
walking distance which accords with the requirements of Policy IN2 of the Local Plan. 

 
21. The site is to be accessed directly via Carmel Road North (B6280) which as a key route 

forming part of the strategic highway network (SRN). It was considered by Officers that 
the original development proposal for nine dwellings could not be supported on 
highway grounds, as the highway Authority does not wish to permit the indiscriminate 
introduction of new junctions on the strategic highway network [SRN] as a matter of 

good network management practice and accepted junction spacing standards could not 
be met owing to close proximity of nearby junctions. 

 
22. Camel Road North is designated as a classified road (B6280). Current design guide 

standards advise that junction spacing for such a category of road should be 90m 
adjacent and 60m for opposite junctions. Spacing with Hummersknott Avenue and 

Abbey Road falls short of both these requirements and as such a new junction was not 
permitted whereby it would be required to meet all current adoptable highway 

standards including junction spacing.  
 

23. However, residential developments which do not exceed 5 dwellings may be accessed 
via a standard dropped kerb type access rather than a properly formed junction, and 
then served internally via a private shared drive. This arrangement has been agreed 
with the applicant, in order to be able to bring redevelopment of the site forward after 
significant negotiation over highway standards. 

 

24. The precise details of the access arrangements, including visibility splays , can be 

secured by the imposition of an appropriate planning condition. 
 

25. The development would be served via a 4.8m wide bitmac private estate road with a 
2.0m footway to provide a safe means of pedestrian access. Whilst a 4.8m wide 

carriageway is below the minimum carriageway width of 5.5m, it is a recognised 
national design standard included within Manual for Streets (MfS) and is therefore 

considered a safe and suitable standard for a private development, where the local 
highway authority does not require developments of up to and including 5 dwellings, to 

be served via an adopted highway. 
 

26. A planning condition will be required to secure appropriate locations for bin stores to 
ensure waste can be collected from the kerbside rather than from within the site. 

 
27. The development fully meets and exceeds minimum parking standards within the Tees 

Valley Design Guide due to the provision of garages and driveway spaces. The garages 

would also provide adequate cycle storage. Any risk of overspill parking onto Carmel 

Page 28



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Road North is therefore considered to be suitably addressed. The garages would each 
include an electric socket for the charging of an electric vehicle. 

 
28. The amended development is considered to be acceptable on highway safety grounds 

following the submission of plans which have reduced the number of dwellings from 
nine to five where traffic generation is likely to be 3-4 two-way trips in am/pm peak 
hours, or just 1 additional vehicle movement every 15-20 minutes. It would therefore 
be difficult to recommend refusal based on traffic impact or highway safety.  

 
29. A review of the most recent 5-year period of data, shows that Just 3 ‘minor’ personal 

injury collisions have been recorded along the full length of Carmel Road North, all at 
separate locations. As such there is no evidence to suggest any inherent road safety 
concerns or pattern of incident which would be made worse by a development of such 

small scale. 
 

30. The proposed development, subject to the imposition of appropriate planning 
conditions, will be acceptable in terms of highway safety and vehicle and cycle parking 

provision in accordance with policies DC1, H8, IN2 and IN4 of the Local Plan. 
 

c) Impact on Heritage Assets 
31. A Heritage Impact Assessment submitted in support of the planning application 

confirms that there are three designated heritage assets within close proximity of the 
site which include grade II and II* Listed Buildings; St Clare’s Abbey and associated 
structures and boundary wall, St Clare’s Abbey Chapel and Danesmoor. The area is not a 
designated Conservation Area, and no further designations are identified. 

 
32. The northern wall of the application site is the boundary with St Clare’s Abbey. The wall 

is part of the listed building and is approximately 2.8m high. The application site has 
historically formed a buffer zone between development and public view and the private 

functions of the Abbey. This was considerably dissolved in the 1970s when the 

application site was developed for a private dwelling (the existing bungalow) with large 
garden. Whilst discreet in its nature, this brought increased activity closer to the Abbey 

grounds. Recent conversion of the Abbey to dwellings and the subsequent approval of a 
football pitch and horse menage within its curtilage have eradicated the sense of 

tranquillity experienced at the former Abbey. 
 

33. The linear development has been designed to ensure that the proposed dwellings are 
primarily located closer to the southern boundary of the application site, away from the 

northern boundary wall, and the reduction in the number of dwellings has a positive 
impact in heritage terms. The Abbey building is approximately 80m from the proposed 

dwellings and the northern boundary wall and garden buildings with the grounds of the 
Abbey would be unaffected by the proposed development. The layout of the 

development will ensure that there would still be views across the Abbey site from 
outside its curtilage. 

 

Page 29



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

34. It is considered that the proposed development will not have an adverse impact upon 
the setting of the Abbey. Danesmoor is separated from the application site by Carmel 
Road North and its setting would remain unaffected by the proposed development.  

 
35. The Archaeology Team from Durham County Council have advised that having 

considered the nature of the development and the previous uses of the site, there are 
no objections from an archaeological point of view. 

 
36. Overall, the significance and settings of the heritage assets would be sustained, and the 

development proposals would accord with policy ENV1 of the Local Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2023. 

 
d) Impact on the General Street Scene 

37. The existing property is a single storey bungalow with a detached garage to the rear. 
The front of the site, between the bungalow and the existing two metre high wall is a 

hardstanding area used for the parking of vehicles. To the rear of the bungalow there is 
an extensive garden. 

 
38. The proposal involves a linear form of development within the site with a single internal 

road and footway giving access to five dwellings. Four of the dwellings would be located 
on the south side of the access road with the dwelling on Plot 1 orientated to face onto 

Carmel Road North. The dwelling on Plot 5 is orientated to face east at the head of the 
development. Each dwelling will have a double garage attached to the side apart from 
the dwelling on Plot 1 where the garage is detached and positioned in front but to the 
side of that dwelling. A 1.8m high boundary wall would run from the garage on Plot 1 to 
the internal highway edge to create some private amenity space for the dwelling on Plot 
No 1 and to create an entrance into the site. The area between this wall and the 
footway on Carmel Road North would be an open landscaped area. 

 

39. Close boarded fencing (1.8m high) would be erected along the majority of the south 

boundary of the site but there would be a section of 1.8m high boundary wall on the 
south and west boundaries around turning head and the dwelling on Plot 5. The 

dwellings would have open fronted gardens apart from the dwelling on Plot 5 which 
would have a 1.2m high wall and gate to the front. The existing wall on the northern 

boundary would remain unchanged. A planning conditions have been recommended to 
secure appropriate materials for the boundary walls. 

 
40. The dwellings on Plots 1 to 4 are two storey, 5 bed properties with a front gable 

projection on the left hand side and a central, recessed entrance. The dwellings have a 
dual pitched roof, and they would be constructed from red brick, UPVC grey composite 

windows with a slate roof.  
 

41. The dwelling on Plot 5 is a 2.5 storey dwelling with four bedrooms on the first floor and 
a fifth bedroom and bathroom within the roof space.  This dwelling would have a front 

gable projection on both the left and right hand side of a recessed entrance. To the rear 

there would be a single storey extension and two dormer extensions within the roof 

Page 30



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

slope. A balustrade would be placed across two first floor rear windows above the 
single storey extension. This dwelling would also have a dual pitched roof and be 
constructed from red brick, UPVC grey composite windows with a slate roof.  

 
42. Notwithstanding St Clare’s Abbey, the dwellings in the local area are primarily two 

storey dwellings with open front gardens and private amenity space to the rear.  Spruce 
Grove opposite the site is a three storey development and No 85 Carmel Road North, 
the application site, is a bungalow. 

 
43. The application site is within Character Zone 4 (Outer Suburbs) of the Council’s 

Supplementary Planning Document on Design for New Development. Under the 
provision of the SPD, developments comprising 2.5 storey buildings are generally 
considered to be acceptable within Character Zone 4. The SPD also advises that within 

this Zone, buildings can be detached, set within its own grounds and design features 
such as dormers and gables are acceptable. Brick and slate are appropriate examples of 

external material.  
 

44. It is clear that the proposed development would generally accord with the guidance 
contained within the Design SPD, which is a document that Policy DC1 of the Local Plan 

states development must have regard to.  
 

45. The proposed development would result in an improved street frontage onto Carmel 
Road North which currently comprises a bungalow set behind a high brick wall. The 
open area to the front at the access point would add a green edge to the site and street 
which would continue along the northern edge of the internal road.  

 
46. The existing garden is not visible from any public vantage points, and it is a private, 

enclosed, domestic garden. The loss of the garden for residential purposes would not 
have an adverse impact on the character and appearance of the area and other 

extensive, private greenspaces remain in the area, for example the grounds of St Clare’s 

Abbey and Carmel College playing fields. 
 

47. The proposal would reflect the local environment, creating an individual sense of place 
and it responds positively to the local context in terms of scale, form, height, materials 

(which will be secured by a planning condition) and the development would accord with 
Policy DC1 and H8 of the Local Plan in this regard. 

 
e) Residential Amenity 

48. The guidance within the Council’s Design SPD states that there needs to be a minimum 
of 21m between habitable rooms in two storey developments and 12.5m between 

habitable room and non habitable room. 
 

49. The proximity distance between the rear elevations of the proposed dwellings on Plots 
2, 3 and 4 and the existing dwellings to the south on Hummersknott Avenue ranges 

between 27m to 29m which exceeds the guidance within the Design SPD. The St Clare’s 

Page 31



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Abbey building to the north of the site is approximately 80m from the proposed 
dwellings. 

 
50. The dwellings on Plots 1 and 5 are orientated to be east facing, resulting in their side 

elevations facing the dwellings on Hummersknott Avenue. The proposed dwellings are 
approximately 30m and 39m from the neighbouring properties which exceeds the 
guidance in the Design SPD for habitable to non habitable rooms. 

 
51. No 83 Carmel Road North is a detached dwelling to the south east of the dwelling on 

Plot 1.  The proposed dwelling on Plot 1 is located to the rear of No 83 Carmel Road 
North and so there will be some views from the front windows of the new dwelling 
across this neighbouring property. However, any views will be indirect and would not be 
so adverse to justify a refusal reason on such grounds. 

 
52. The dwelling on Plot 5 includes a single storey rear extension with two glass balustrades 

across first floor windows. The balustrades are for safety purposes rather than for the 
creation of an external seating area and therefore the amenities of the neighbouring 

dwellings should not been adversely affected by these features. However, a planning 
condition have been imposed to prevent the single storey extension from being used as 

a balcony area, without having to first apply for planning permission. 
 

53. The proposed development primarily complies with the proximity distance guidance set 
out in the Design SPD and so the development should not lead to unacceptable privacy 
levels and any impacts on No 83 Carmel Road North by the dwelling on Plot 1 would not 
justify a reason to refuse the planning application on such grounds. 

 
54. The site would be enclosed on the south and western boundaries by walls and fencing 

which are 1.8m high. The 2.8m high wall on the northern boundary will remain 
unchanged. There are also some trees and hedging on the south boundary which will 

provide some screening of the dwellings. The outlook from the dwellings on 

Hummersknott Avenue will undoubtedly alter as a result of the development, however, 
the planning system is not necessarily intended to protect an outlook that a resident 

may enjoy at a particular point in time but to maintain an outlook that meets or 
maintains an acceptable standard of amenity. Due to the separation distances between 

dwellings, the boundary treatments and the scale and height of the dwellings, it is 
considered that the development will not have an overbearing and dominant impact 

when viewed from the neighbouring properties and their gardens. As the dwellings are 
detached, rather than semi detached or terraced, acceptable views and levels of 

sunlight across the site and from between the proposed dwellings would be maintained. 
 

55. With regard to the erection of new fencing, it is important to acknowledge that the 
applicant could erect new fencing and walls along the rear boundaries of the site 

without having to apply for planning permission provided that they do not exceed 2m in 
height. The proposed walls and fencing on the south and west boundaries are slightly 

below this limit (1.8m). The Local Planning Authority would not have any records as to 

the ownership of the existing fences, however, if they are not within the ownership of 

Page 32



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

the applicant, they cannot be removed without the owner’s consent and any new 
fencing and walls will have to be positioned alongside the existing fences. 
 

56. A planning condition has been recommended to secure the submission of finished floor 
levels of the proposed dwellings to ensure that the local planning authority can assess 
the impact of any increases in ground levels between existing and proposed dwellings, if 
such works are to take place. 
 

57. The proposed layout includes a turning area and footway at the western end of the site, 
to the front of the dwelling on Plot 5 and to the north of Nos 145 and 147 
Hummersknott Avenue. These neighbouring properties to the south of the site and 
possibly the occupants of St Clare’s Abbey will experience traffic noise associated with 
the proposed development due to the presence of the road. The submitted plans show 

that a 1.8m high wall will be erected adjacent to turning head, which along with the 
existing 2.8m high wall to the north will provide an element of noise mitigation to 

reduce adverse effects to these neighbouring properties.  Furthermore it is considered 
that the extent of traffic movements that would be generated by the development 

would not result in noise which would lead to a material detrimental impact on the 
general amenity of the local community.  

 
58. The site is currently a domestic garden and whilst the number of dwellings and 

occupants will increase, the general noise that may be associated with the new 
development would also not be sufficiently adverse to justify a reason to refuse the 
planning application. 
 

59. The proposal does not include details of any street lighting and as the internal road and 
footway would not be adopted, the local highway authority would not install such 
features. However, a planning condition has been recommended for external lighting 
details should they be proposed. 

 

60. In terms of safeguarding the future occupants of the dwelling from external noise 
sources, it was agreed with Environmental Health that a Noise Assessment was not 

required in support of the planning application but noise mitigation measures would be 
required for any dwelling with a direct line of sight onto Carmel Road North to protect it 

from road traffic noise. As a result, a planning condition has been recommended to 
secure appropriate mitigation measures for the dwelling on Plot 1 of the development. 

 
61. The dwellings on Plots 2, 3 and 4 are oriented so that the gable ends face onto the road, 

and while the dwelling on Plot 5 does face the road it is the furthest into the site and 
will not require any specific mitigation to protect against road traffic noise. 

 
62. A further planning condition has been recommended to ensure that fencing around the 

amenity space of the dwelling on Plot 1 is constructed in a manner which will protect 
the occupants from road traffic noise. 

 

Page 33



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

63. Planning conditions to secure the submission of a Construction Management Plan and 
control the hours of demolition, deliveries and construction have been recommended. 

 
64. It is considered that the proposed development, subject to planning conditions, would 

be acceptable in residential amenity terms and would comply with policies H8, DC3 and 
DC4 of the Local Plan. 

 
f) Flood Risk and Drainage 
65. The application site is entirely within Flood Zone 1 with a low flood risk (Policy DC2 of 

the Local Plan). A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted in support of the 
planning application, along with a Drainage Strategy. 

 
66. The FRA highlights that the site is within an area considered to be at very low risk of 

surface water flooding but within the site boundary there are some medium and high 
risk areas towards the western portion of the site, which confirms comments made by 

local residents with regard to an area of the site which retains surface water. 
 

67. As the proposal is not a “Major Development”, a scheme of this scale would normally 
fall outside of the remit of the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) as a consultee. 

However, due to the comments that have been made by residents, the LLFA were asked 
to comment on the proposal and they have advised that whilst noting that there is an 

area of existing flood risk on the site as a result of surface water flooding, the FRA states 
During preliminary levels design, the floodpath shown to the west side of the 
development has been maintained by designing levels as close to existing as possible. 
Finished floor levels of the proposed dwellings have been raised above the depth of any 
potential flooding. The road will also be drained through gullies and drives will have 
permeable paving, alleviating potential flood risk. 

 
68. The LLFA has advised that this will address flood risk to the new properties and 

furthermore, as the proposed development will have positively drained road, property 

drives and hardstanding, this will address the water that can currently collect and pond 
on the site. The LLFA have no objection to proposals in principle in respect of surface 

water management. 
 

69. Northumbrian Water assesses the impact of the proposed development on their assets 
and assesses the capacity within their network to accommodate and treat the 

anticipated flows arising from the development. They do not offer comment on aspects 
of planning applications that are outside of their area of control. Having considered the 

application and supporting information, Northumbrian Water have raised no objections 
to the planning application subject to a planning condition being imposed to ensure the 

development is carried out in accordance with the Flood Risk Assessment. 
 

70. Subject to the imposition of an appropriate planning condition, the proposed 
development would accord with policy DC2 of the Local Plan in this regard. 

 

g) Land Contamination 

Page 34



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

71. A Geol Consultants Ltd ‘Phase 1 Preliminary Contamination Risk Assessment has been 
submitted in support of the planning application. The OS mapping indicates the site has 
been agricultural land since the earliest published mapping in 1856, until 1970 when it 
became residential land-use. A parcel of marshland and woodland has historically been 
recorded on the site since 1856, and was later replaced by woodland in 1915, in turn 
replaced by a pond / marsh by 1939, with the pond no longer recorded by 1964. The 
Landmark Information Group, Envirocheck Report records 1 no. area of potentially 
infilled land (water) within the site boundary, which relates to an unknown filled ground 
feature (pond, marsh, river, stream, dock), mapped in 1954, which correlates with the 
OS mapping as being a historical pond / marsh. Topsoil and localised made ground are 
expected to be present over the site area. A conceptual model identifying possible 
pollutant linkages has been developed for the site and although assessed as low risk 
further site investigation works including ground gas monitoring is recommended. 

Appropriate planning conditions relating to land contamination have been 
recommended by the Council’s Environmental Health Officer. The development would 

accord with Policy DC1 of the Local Plan in this regard. 
 

h) Ecology and Biodiversity Net Gain 
72. The planning application has been supported by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and 

Roost Assessment (2024) which concludes that there was no evidence of protected 
species found on site during the site survey, and there was extremely limited potential 

for protected species to be using the site. Therefore, no further surveys have been 
recommended. Precautionary measures of working have been made to reduce the risk 
of harm to protected species that could be present on site e.g., amphibians, terrestrial 
mammals, and nesting birds. The development would accord with policy H8 in this 
regard. 
 

73. The planning application has been supported by a Biodiversity Net Gain Metric which 
shows that the proposed landscaping scheme would result in -0.75 % net gain in habitat 

units and a 71.25% increase net gain in hedgerow units. This recommended landscaping 

meets the requirements set out in Policies ENV7 and ENV8 of the Local Plan for 
achieving a biodiversity net gain. 

 
74. A Biodiversity Net Gain Management Plan (BNGMP) has also been submitted which 

meets the requirement to submit a Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP). 
Appendix 3 of the BNGMP shows the recommended landscaping plan as input into the 

BNG Metric and the Council’s Ecology Officer has advised that the general management 
prescriptions are acceptable. 

 
75. Appropriate planning conditions have been recommended to ensure the Management 

Plan is fully implemented. 
 

i) Trees and Landscaping 
76. There are trees within and on the edge of the site which are covered by tree 

preservation orders dated 1951, 1962 and 1985. The planning application has been 

Page 35



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

supported by Tree Survey which surveyed a total of 18No. individual trees, 5No. groups 
of trees and 7No. hedges. 

 
77. The trees and hedges that were surveyed have been categorised as being Category B 

(moderate) or Category C (low quality) specimens. 
 

78. An Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) has also been submitted in support of the 
planning application which states that in order to facilitate the proposed development, 
part of a Leyland cypress hedge to the front of the site and located on the south 
boundary with No 83 Carmel Road North would need to be removed and a group of 
fruit trees on the northern boundary of the site would need to be removed. None of the 
trees to be removed are part of any tree preservation order. 

 

79. The AMS identifies where fencing and garages would encroach into the root protection 
areas of the retained trees along with confirmation of how such works will be carried 

out without impacting the trees, for example, fence posts are to be located so they will 
not damage or require removal of tree roots and garage foundations will be laid under 

direct on site arboricultural supervision. The AMS also includes tree protection 
measures for the retained trees. The Councils Senior Arboricultural Officer has raised no 

objections to the proposals and the development would accord with Policies H8 and 
ENV4 of the Local Plan. 

 
80. As part of the achieving a biodiversity net gain for the site (see Paragraph 73) a 

landscaping scheme has been recommended which will include tree planting, grassland 
and hedgerow planting to the front of the site and also alongside the internal road. The 
landscaping would be maintained by a private management company. A planning 
condition has been recommended to secure the submission of the landscaping scheme 
and the development would accord with Policies, H8 and ENV4 and DC1 of the Local 
Plan in this regard. 

 

j) Nutrient Neutrality 
81. The application site is located within the River Tees Catchment Area and is therefore 

subject to the guidance issued by Natural England on the 16th of March 2022 in respect 
of the unfavourable condition of the Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast Special Protection 

Area (SPA), Ramsar Site and associated Sites of Special Scientific Interest. The Natural 
England Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast Special Protection Area/Ramsar Evidence Pack 

August 2022 (TIN204) confirms that this protected area is currently in an unfavourable 
condition due to nutrient enrichment, which includes pollution from nitrates, including 

Nitrogen. 
 

82. Regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017) requires 
Darlington Borough Council (as the Competent Authority) prior to giving permission for 

any plan/project that is likely to have a significant effect on a European site (either 
alone or in combination with other plans/projects) to undertake an appropriate 

assessment of the implications of the plan/project for that site in view of that site’s 

conservation objectives.  

Page 36



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
83. Regulation 75 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017) states 

that it is a condition of any planning permission granted by a general development 
order made on or after 30th November 2017, that development which is likely to have a 
significant effect on a European site or a European offshore marine site (either alone or 
in combination with other plans or projects), and is not directly connected with or 
necessary to the management of the site, must not be begun until the developer has 
received written notification of the approval of the local planning authority 
 

84. The Screening Assessment requires the Local Planning Authority as the Competent 
Authority to consider and conclude whether the potential for likely significant effects to 
the Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA/Ramsar designated features can be excluded 
for this planning application. If they cannot, the Local Planning Authority must make an 

Appropriate Assessment (AA) of the implications of the development for that site, in 
consideration of the affected sites conservation objectives. 

 
85. The information required to enable the Local Planning Authority to undertake the 

screening assessment and where necessary, appropriate assessment, is provided by the 
submitted Nutrient Budget Calculator, Habitat Regulations Assessment and Provisional 

Nutrient Credit Certificate. This information is considered sufficient to enable the Local 
Planning Authority as the Competent Authority to fully consider the impacts of the 

development proposal on Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA/Ramsar. The submitted 
nutrient budget calculator demonstrates that the proposals will increase the nitrogen 
arising from the development and consequently it cannot be ruled out at the screening 
stage that this development will not have a likely significant effect on the Teesmouth 
and Cleveland Coast SPA/Ramsar.  
 

86. The applicant has used Natural England’s Nutrient Budget Calculator tool for the River 
Tees catchment to establish a nutrient budget for the proposal. The assumptions and 

inputs used by the applicant within this calculator are satisfactory and are an accurate 

reflection of the site and its location. 
 

87. This proposal for five dwellings would increase the total annual nitrogen load arising by 
7.81kg per year. As a nitrogen surplus would arise, the applicant has accepted that 

mitigation would be necessary in order to avoid likely significant effects. Informed by 
the Nutrient Budget Calculator Tool the applicant proposes to mitigate this nitrogen 

surplus by purchasing 7.81 credits from the Natural England Tees Catchment credit 
scheme which is equivalent to the surplus nitrogen of 7.81kg that needs to be 

mitigated.  
 

88. A countersigned provisional credit certificate obtained from Natural England which is 
sufficient evidence for this form of mitigation to be considered robust and achievable 

and appropriately located within the Tees catchment has been submitted. A pre-
occupation condition will be required to ensure that the required and necessary 

mitigation is secured and in place. Subject to such a condition, the Local Planning 

Page 37



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Authority as the Competent Authority considers this a form of mitigation in keeping 
with Natural England guidance. 
 

89. The proposed mitigation measures would adequately mitigate the effects of the 
proposal and ensure the proposed development will not result in an increase in 
nitrogen reaching the Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA. So, it can be concluded that 
the proposal will not adversely affect the integrity of the Teesmouth and Cleveland 
Coast SPA and meets the relevant Habitat Regulations, subject to the condition as set 
out above. 
 

90. In accordance with Regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations (2017) Natural England have been consulted and they have raised no 
objections subject to the imposition of the planning condition set out above. 

 
THE PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY 

91. In considering this application the Local Planning Authority has complied with Section 
149 of the Equality Act 2010 which places a statutory duty on public authorities in the 

exercise of their functions to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination 
and advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it. The dwellings would be constructed to 
meet Category 2 of the Building Regulations (accessible and adaptable dwellings) (Policy 

H4 of the Local Plan). 
 
SECTION 17 OF THE CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998 

92. The contents of this report have been considered in the context of the requirements 
placed on the Council by Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, namely the 
duty on the Council to exercise its functions with due regard to the likely effect of the 
exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent 
crime and disorder in its area.  It is not considered that the contents of this report have 

any such effect.  

 
CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION  

93. The application site is within the development limits for the urban area and therefore 
the principle of redeveloping the site for residential purposes can be supported in 

general planning policy terms subject to compliance with all other applicable local and 
national policies. 

 
94.  The number of dwellings has been reduced from nine to five properties following 

highway safety concerns and subject to planning conditions relating to securing a 
suitably designed access in the form of a dropped crossing, there are, in principle, no 

highway objections to the amended scheme. 
 

95. The development conforms with the guidance within the Council’s adopted Design SPD 
and will not have an adverse impact on the visual appearance of the local area and the 

significance of the neighbouring heritage assets would be sustained. 

 

Page 38



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

96. Subject to the imposition of appropriate planning conditions, the proposed 
development would not have an adverse impact on the amenities of the local 
community. 
 

97. Flood risk has been mitigated by an acceptable drainage strategy and a net gain in 
biodiversity has been achieved through on site landscaping which would be managed in 
accordance with national guidance. The scheme has achieved nutrient neutrality by the 
purchasing of nutrient credits. 
 

98. The proposed development is considered to be consistent with national and local 
development plan policy. 
 

 

THAT PLANNING PERMISSION BE GRANTED SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING PLANNING 
CONDITIONS 

 
1. A3 – Implementation Limit (Three Years) 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved plans and documents, as detailed below:  
 

a) Drawing Number 313 SArch S3 XX DR A 1009 MU Site Plan As Proposed 
b) Drawing Number 313 SArch S3 XX DR A 1050 P01 Autotracking and Visibility 

Splay 
c) Drawing Number 313 SArch S3 XX DR A 1020 P02 Entrance Boundary 
d) Drawing Number 313 SArch S3 XX DR A 3000 P05 House Type A Proposed 

Elevations 
e) Drawing Number 313 SArch DG XX DR A 3000 P02 Proposed Double Garage 

Elevations 

f) Drawing Number 313 - SArch - DG - ZZ - DR - A - 2000 - P02 Proposed Double 

Garage Plans 
g) Drawing Number 313 - SArch - S3 - 00 - DR - A - 1010 - P05 Proposed Boundaries 

h) Drawing Number 313 - SArch - S3 - XX - DR - A - 3001 - P05 House Type B - 5 Bed 
Proposed Elevations 

i) Drawing Number 313 - SArch - S3 - ZZ - DR - A - 2000 - P06 House Type A - 5 Bed 
- Proposed Plans 

j) Drawing Number 313 - SArch - S3 - ZZ - DR - A - 2001 - P05 House Type B - 5 Bed 
Proposed Plans 

 
REASON – To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the planning 

permission. 
 

3. Prior to the commencement of the development, a site-specific Demolition and 
Construction and Environment Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan[s] shall include the following, unless 

Page 39



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

the Local Planning Authority dispenses with any requirement[s] specifically and in 
writing:  
 

a) Dust Assessment Report which assesses the dust emission magnitude, the 
sensitivity of the area, risk of impacts and details of the dust control  measures to 
be put in place during the demolition and construction phases of the 
development. The Dust Assessment Report shall take account of the guidance 
contained within the Institute of Air Quality Management “Guidance on the 
assessment of dust from demolition and construction” February 2014. 

b) Methods for controlling noise and vibration during the demolition and 
construction phase and shall take account of the guidance contained within 
BS5228 “Code of Practice for noise and vibration control on construction and open 
sites”. 

c) Construction Traffic Routes, including parking areas for staff and visitors. 
d) Details of wheel washing 

e) Road Maintenance 
f) Warning signage.  

g) Construction Methods to minimise impacts of Construction Activities affecting 
adjacent Woodland. 

 
The development shall not be carried out otherwise in complete accordance with the 

approved Plan.  
REASON – In the interests of highway safety and residential amenity 
 

4. No construction or demolition activities, including the use of plant and machinery, as 

well as deliveries to and from the site, shall take place outside the hours of 08.00-18.00 
Monday to Friday, 08.00-14.00 Saturday with no activities on Sunday or Bank/Public 

Holidays without the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority 
 

REASON – In the interests of residential amenity 
 

5. Prior to the commencement of the development, precise details of the access 
arrangements shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. The access shall take the form of a dropped crossing limited to a maximum 
width of 5.5m; with appropriate tactile paving and visibility splays of between a 
minimum of 43 x 2.4m and a maximum of 70mx2.4m or as close as is deliverable within 

the constraints of the site. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in 
complete accordance with the approved details and the access shall be completed and 

in place prior to the first occupation of the development. 
 

REASON – In the interests of highway safety 
 

6. Prior to the commencement of the development,  precise details of the finished levels, 
above ordnance datum, of the ground floor(s) of the proposed building(s), in relation to 

existing ground levels have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 

Page 40



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

planning authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved levels.  
 
REASON: In the interests of residential amenity and visual appearance of the 
surrounding area 
 

7. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, a Final Nutrient 
Credit Certificate, signed by Natural England and the applicant, shall be submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority 
 
REASON: To ensure the development is nutrient neutral in accordance with the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 

 

8. Notwithstanding any description of the external materials in the submitted application, 
and prior to any dwelling being built above damp proof course, details of the external 

materials to be used in the carrying out of this permission shall be submitted to, and 
approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include but not 

be limited to brickwork, roof tiles, windows, doors and the development shall not be 
carried out otherwise than in complete accordance with any such approved details. 

 
REASON - In order that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied as to the details of 

the development in the interests of the visual amenity of the area. 
 

9. Prior to any dwelling being built above damp proof course, details of landscaping shall 
be submitted to, and approved by, the Local Planning Authority prior to site 
clearance/demolition work commencing on site.  Such landscaping shall be provided 
either within the first planting season after the completion of the development or any 
individual phase thereof or prior to the buildings being occupied and thereafter 
permanently maintained. Any trees, hedges or shrubs removed, dying, severely 

damaged or becoming seriously diseased within thirty years of planting shall be 

replaced by trees, hedges and shrubs of similar size and species to those originally 
approved and planted. 

 
REASON - To ensure a satisfactory appearance of the site and to improve the visual 

amenities of the locality. 
 

10. Prior to any dwelling being built above damp proof course, details of a bin store shall be 
submitted to, and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The 

development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance with any 
such approved details. The agreed bin store shall be in place prior to the first 

occupation of the dwellings and remain in situ for the lifetime of the development. 
 

REASON – In the interests of the amenity of the area 
 

11. Prior to the dwelling on Plot 1 being built above damp proof course, a scheme for 

protecting the dwelling on Plot 1 from excessive road traffic noise shall be submitted to, 

Page 41



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

for approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details 
of the specification of the windows, glazing (Rw value) and means of ventilation 
(windows closed) to be installed and the development shall not be carried out 
otherwise than in complete accordance with the approved details. The agreed details 
shall be installed prior to the first occupation of the dwelling on Plot 1 and shall remain 
in situ for the lifetime of the development. 
 
REASON – To safeguard the amenities of the future occupants of the dwelling. 
 

12. The flat roof of the single storey extension to the rear of the dwelling on Plot 5 shall not 
be used as a roof terrace, garden or viewing area and no alteration shall be carried out 
to the main building giving access to that area without prior written permission of the 
Local Planning Authority to whom a planning application must be submitted 

 
REASON - To enable the Local Planning Authority to assess any impacts on the amenity 

and privacy of nearby residents. 
 

13. Prior to any dwelling being built above damp proof course, details of the materials for 
the proposed 1.8m and 1.2m high boundary walls shown on Drawing Number 313-

SArch-S3-00-DR-A-1010-P05  shall be submitted to, and approved, in writing, by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in 

complete accordance with any such approved details. 
 

REASON - In order that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied as to the details of 
the development in the interests of the visual amenity of the area. 
 

14. Prior to the first occupation of the development a close boarded timber fence and/or 
wall 1.8 metres in height with a minimum surface density of 10kg/m² with no gaps in 
the structure and with the ground shall be installed in accordance with the submitted 

Boundary plan (Drawing No 313-SArch-S3-00-DR-A-1010-P05) and thereafter shall be 

retained and maintained for the duration of the development. No changes to the 
boundary treatment shall be made without the prior written approval of the Local 

Planning Authority 
 

REASON – To safeguard the amenities of the future occupants of the development. 
 

15. CL2 - Phase 2 Site Investigation Strategy 
 

16. CL3 – Phase 2 Investigation Works 
 

17. CL4 - Phase 3 Remediation and Verification Strategy 
 

18. CL5 - Construction/Remediation works. 
 

19. CL6 - Phase 4 Verification and Completion Report 

 

Page 42



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

20. The electric charging points shown on Drawing Numbers 313 SArch DG XX DR A 3000 
P02 and 313 - SArch - DG - ZZ - DR - A - 2000 - P02 shall be a single phase 13 amp socket 
(minimum requirement) and shall be in place and available for use prior to the first 
occupation of each dwelling hereby approved. The electric vehicle charging point shall 
be retained in situ for the lifetime of the development. 
REASON: In order to ensure the development complies with Policy IN4 of the Darlington 
Local Plan 2016 – 2036. 
 

21. The cycle store shown on Drawing Number 313 - SArch - DG - ZZ - DR - A - 2000 - P02 
shall be in place and available for use prior to the first occupation of each dwelling 
hereby approved. The cycle store shall be retained in situ for the lifetime of the 
development  
 

REASON: In order to encourage the use of sustainable modes of transport 
 

22. Development hereby approved shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete 
accordance with the drainage scheme contained within the submitted document 

entitled “Flood Risk Assessment” dated May 2024 and produced by CK21 Limited The 
drainage scheme shall ensure that foul flows discharge to the foul sewer at manhole 

3310 and ensure that surface water discharges to the surface water sewer at manhole 
3302. The surface water discharge rate shall not exceed the available capacity of 

2.9l/sec that has been identified in this sewer. The final surface water discharge rate 
shall be agreed by the Lead Local Flood Authority.  
 
REASON: To prevent the increased risk of flooding from any sources in accordance with 
the National Planning Policy Framework 2023 and Policy DC2 of the Local Plan. 
 

23. The development hereby approved shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete 
accordance with the details contained within the document entitled “Arboricultural 

Method Statement to BS5837:2012” dated 11 February 2024 and produced by Arbtech 

Consulting Limited. 
 

REASON – In the interests of the visual appearance of the site and local area. 
 

24. The development hereby approved shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete 
accordance with the recommendations contained within the document entitled 

“Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Preliminary Roost Assessment ” dated April 2024 
and produced by Arbtech Consulting Limited.  

 
REASON; In the interests of habitat protection and the biodiversity of the site 

 
25. In the event of the scheme involving any external lighting, details of the lighting 

scheme, including lighting contours and illuminance levels, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any dwelling being built 

above damp proof course. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in 

complete accordance with the approved details. 

Page 43



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
REASON – In the interests of amenity and biodiversity 
 

26. The development hereby approved shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete 
accordance with the recommendations contained within the document entitled 
“Biodiversity Net Gain Management Plan ” dated August 2024 and produced by Arbtech 
Consulting Limited.  
 
REASON; In the interests of habitat protection and the biodiversity of the site 
 

27. All boundary treatments shown on the approved plans shall be erected on all 
boundaries prior to the first occupation of the dwelling hereby approved. 

 

REASON: In the interests of residential amenity 
 

28. The dwellings hereby approved shall fully  comply with Category 2 requirements (accessible 
and adaptable dwellings) of Building Regulations Approved Document M: Volume  1(Access 

to and use of dwellings).  

 

REASON: In order to comply with policy H4 (Housing Mix) of the Darlington Local Plan 2016 
– 2036 

 

29. If piled foundations are proposed, details of the piling method including justification for 
its choice, means of monitoring vibration and groundwater risk assessment, if 
necessary, in accordance with recognised guidance shall be submitted to and agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of development. The 
development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the approved 
details.  
 
REASON - In the interests of amenity 

 
INFORMATIVES 

Street Naming and Numbering  
Prior to the commencement of the development, the applicant is advised that contact be made 

with the Assistant Director: Highways, Design and Projects (contact Mrs. P. McGuckin 01325 
406651) to discuss naming and numbering of the development. 

 
Prior to the commencement of the development the applicant is advised that contact be made 
with the Assistant Director: Highways, Design and Projects to discuss the need for any 
agreements under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 to carry out any works within the 
highway. 

Page 44



1
6
8

1
7
to
1
9

1
4
3

1 to 3

2

1621

152

L B

2

171
157

2 145

8
3

8
5

56.1m

Sports Facility

57.6m

1
7
0

St Clare's Court

1 to 10

56.2m

Childrens

1
0
to
1
2

7
to
9

4 to 6

13
5

1
4
0

2 4

BROMPTO
N WALK

1 2

27

23

1
4
to
16

R
O
W
A
N
C
O
U
R
T

Planning Ref No: 22/00190/FUL

DARLINGTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

© Crown copyright  All Rights Reserved  Licence Number 100023728  2024

SCALE 1:1250
.

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 47

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 49

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To Approve the Minutes of the Meeting of this Committee held on 7 August 2024
	4 Introduction to Procedure by the Assistant Director, Law and Governance's Representative
	5 Applications for Planning Permission and Other Consents under the Town and Country Planning Act and Associated Legislation
	5(a) 85 Carmel Road North
	Agenda_Location_Plan_22_00190_FUL

	9 Complaints Received and Being Considered Under the Council's Approved Code of Practice as of 16 August 2024 (Exclusion Paragraph No. 7)
	Item 11 - Planning_Enforcement_Report


